
CITY OF RAINIER
CASH ON HAND/GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION REPORT
CHECKING ACCOUNTS AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT POOL ACCOUNT
4/1/2022-4/30/2022

ACCOUNT REGISTER SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance 352,538.04
PERS Deposits - 

New Ending Balance 352,538.04 0.00 0.00 352,538.04

BANK STATEMENT SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-1 34,337.60
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-2 387,297.22
Deposits not Shown on Statement 3,633.21
Outstanding Cks and Other Debits 52,225.85
PERS Outstanding 20,504.14
PERS Adjustment
Ending Balance 421,634.82 72,729.99 3,633.21 352,538.04 0.00

LGIP STATEMENT SUMMARY
Beginning Balance 7,445,049.29
Deposits 13,646.76
Withdrawals 50,000.00
Interest 3,857.19
S/C
Ending Balance 7,445,049.29 50,000.00 17,503.95 7,412,553.24

TOTAL CASH 7,765,091.28

GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION
4/1/2022-4/30/2022

04/01/22 04/30/22
Beginning Total Total Ending

Fund Balance Revenue Expense Liabilities Balance
10 General 2,649,339.89 174,513.87 273,241.33 2,550,612.43
20 Debt 364,096.00 0.00 0.00 364,096.00
30 Sewer 453,560.32 101,190.39 66,038.85 488,711.86
40 Water 297,234.58 82,533.35 60,212.13 319,555.80
50 Timber 1,720,761.26 0.00 4,317.44 1,716,443.82
60 Street 226,438.83 11,601.66 19,702.60 218,337.89
65 0.00 0.00
70 0.00 0.00
81 Special Projects 320,273.29 0.00 3,185.33 317,087.96
83 Sewer Capital 971,657.76 0.00 0.00 971,657.76
84 Water Capital 381,349.05 9,138.98 18,277.96 372,210.07
85 Transportation Capital 356,822.76 0.00 0.00 356,822.76
90 Library Trust 89,628.01 52.11 125.19 89,554.93

General Ledger Total 7,831,161.75 7,765,091.28 0.00

Completed by:______ Date:_______ Approved by: ______ Date:________ 



City of Rainier
2021/2022 Budget Year
4/30/2022 Income/Expense
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,563,290 1,528,463 97.77%
Expenditures 1,778,290 1,108,211 62.32%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,468,913 1,441,949 98.16%
Expenditures 1,732,561 1,527,423 88.16%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 957,000 811,529 84.80%
Expenditures 1,235,198 1,049,343 84.95%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Timber Fund YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 180,000 514,494 285.83%
Expenditures 520,512 54,908 10.55%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 248,382 242,825 97.76%
Expenditures 333,065 285,992 85.87%

*Excludes Beginning Balance



City of Rainier
2020/2021 Budget Year
4/30/2022
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds
Budget Variance by Appropriation

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,563,290 1,528,463 97.77%
Expenditures

10 General Government 388,638 174,036 44.78%
20 City Building Maintenance 13,500 5,002 37.05%
30 Land Use & Development 27,425 18,457 67.30%
50 Library 68,800 8,268 12.02%
60 Attorney 7,500 7,997 106.63%
70 Finance & Administration 56,117 37,399 66.64%
80 Municipal Court 61,084 45,435 74.38%
90 Public Properties 189,483 127,639 67.36%

100 Police Department 965,743 683,978 70.82%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,468,913 1,441,949 98.16%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 454,307 352,311 77.55%
Material & Services 278,000 245,879 88.45%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Transfers 956,944 929,233 97.10%
Contingencies 43,310 0 0.00%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 957,000 811,529 84.80%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 488,346 381,375 78.10%
Material & Services 192,320 155,587 80.90%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Transfers 512,382 512,381 100.00%
Contingencies 42,150 0 0.00%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Timber Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 180,000 514,494 285.83%
Expenditures
Material & Services 80,400 49,315 61.34%
Capital Outlay 65,000 5,593 8.60%
Contingencies 300,000 0 0.00%
Propery Purchase Reserve 75,112 0 0.00%

2021/2022 4/30/2022 4/30/2022
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 248,382 242,825 97.76%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 66,643 57,981 87.00%
Material & Services 118,150 81,883 69.30%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Contingencies 2,144 0 0.00%
Transfers 146,128 146,128 100.00%

*Excludes Beginning Balance 









 

1 
 

 

City of Rainier 

Regular City Council Meeting 

June 6, 2022 

6 p.m. 

Rainier City Hall 

 

   

OPEN BUDGET HEARING – ACCEPT PUBLIC COMMENT – CLOSE BUDGET 

HEARING 

 

Mayor Jerry Cole opened the hearing on the budget resolution at 6 p.m. No public comment was 

given. The hearing was closed at 6:01 p.m. Mayor Cole opened the hearing on state revenue 

sharing at 6:01 p.m. No public comment was given. The hearing was closed at 6:02 p.m.  

 

Cole called the council meeting to order at 6:02 p.m.  

 

Council Present: Connie Budge, Scott Cooper, Robert duPlessis, Jeremy Howell, Mike 

Kreger and Levi Richardson  

 

Council Absent: Denise Watson 

 

City Attorney Present: No 

 

City Staff Present: Sarah Blodgett, City Recorder; Gregg Griffith, Police Chief; W. Scott 

Jorgensen, City Administrator; City Forester Patrick McCoy 

  

Flag Salute 

 

Additions/Deletions from the Agenda: City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen said that 

Public Works Director Sue Lawrence wanted to add the purchase of a mower as an agenda 

item. Councilor Scott Cooper moved to add that item to the agenda. That motion was seconded 

by Council President Mike Kreger and adopted unanimously. Cole said he wanted to add an 

executive session about legal matters. Kreger moved to add that item to the agenda. That 

motion was seconded by Councilor Connie Budge and adopted unanimously. 

 

Mayor’s Address: Cole noted that it was the anniversary of D-Day and observed a moment 

of silence in honor of that event. Kreger said that three local students were selected to 

participate in the Shriners’ East-West All Star Game. A plaque was presented to Kenneth Tripp 

in honor of that achievement.  

 

Visitor Comments: Ronald Roche said his neighbors asked him to request speed humps on 

4th Street. He also requested that the city vacate an easement on West E Street. Jorgensen asked 

him to send an email about the requested easement. There will be an upcoming council 

discussion about potentially vacating some city rights of ways and easements. Rainier School 

District Superintendent Joseph Hattrick congratulated the 78 seniors from the district that 

graduated the previous weekend. Nick Gratzer said cars have been parked on the street near 

the intersection of East Second and Highway 30. It’s dangerous for anyone trying to make a 

left turn. He said that there are people living in their cars near the kayak launch area. Jorgensen 



 

2 
 

said staff is looking into security enhancements and a contractor was in the city earlier in the 

day as part of that. Staff will be presenting about that at the July council meeting.  

 

Consider Approval of the Consent Agenda 

Consider Approval of the May 2, 2022 Regular Council Meeting and May 16, 2022 Budget 

Committee Meeting Minutes—Kreger moved to approve the consent agenda. That motion 

was seconded by Councilor Robert duPlessis and adopted unanimously.  

 

New Business 

a. IGA with Rainier School District #13 Providing the Contracted Service to Manage  

    the City Library—Cole said he and Jorgensen met with Hattrick to discuss the IGA.  

    They came to the mutual decision to not renew it. Hattrick said he and the district  

    appreciate the partnership. Successes include the remodel of the library and establishing  

    a web presence. He thanked Cole for the good working relationship. Jorgensen went  

    over the various options that are available. A fifth option is to close the library, but he  

    doesn’t think anyone wants that one. The library board met that morning to come up  

    with a recommendation for council. He and Budge attended the meeting. Board chair  

    Marcia Roberts said that body had a half hour discussion and voted unanimously to    

    recommend the second option, which would have the librarian be a city employee at 32    

    hours a week. duPlessis said he remembers past discussions at council about how to keep  

    the library services going. The IGA was a win-win for the district and the city. He would  

    like to keep the same amount of service and include evening and weekend hours.  

    Jorgensen said the library staffing is in the 2022-23 fiscal year budget as a contracted  

    service. But he talked to the city’s contract CPA Summer Sears about it. She said it can  

    be changed and the processes to do that wouldn’t be difficult. The district advertised the  

    librarian position and received two applicants, including current substitute Allen Snider.  

    There would be enough time for the city to advertise the position and have someone  

    hired and in place by the time the IGA expires on June 30. Cole said that the fourth  

    option of continuing the library staffing as a contracted service could also work. The  

    previous librarian retired, but the district provided a substitute under the terms of the  

    IGA. Jorgensen said he included some materials in the packet to give council  

    information on some options. When he lived and reported in Josephine County, they  

    closed their library branches when the Great Recession hit. A non-profit formed and the  

    county contracted with it to operate the library system. It’s now operated as a library  

    district. Similarly, Jackson County contracted with a private company to run its library  

    system. That same company had operated the library system in Riverside County,  

    California. It would be a similar process as hiring a librarian. The city would put out a  

    request for proposal, advertise it for a couple of weeks and council could award a bid at  

    its June 27 meeting. Budge said this could be an opportunity to work on a new strategic  

    plan. She expressed her preference for the second option. Cole said the city can specify  

    the services it wants through a contract. Cooper said that when he worked in IT, many  

    employees were contractors. Councilor Jeremy Howell said that in some instances, there  

    can be a lack of consistency with contractors. Councilor Levi Richardson said that in a  

    small town, everyone knows the librarian. Cole said he thinks that kind of consistency  

    can still be maintained with a contract service option. Cooper suggested that the matter  

    be tabled and reconsidered at the council’s June 27 meeting. Cole agreed and asked  

    Hattrick if the city can contract with the school district for one more month of services.  

    Hattrick said he could send over an addendum that would enable that.  

b. Timber Sale Discussion—City Forester Patrick McCoy said there was a previous council  

    discussion about possibly doing a harvest in the city’s watershed this summer. Increased  



 

3 
 

    interest rates caused lumber futures to plummet and housing starts are also projected to  

    drop. Prices have become more volatile. Any sale would have lower profits due to  

    increased fuel prices and other costs incurred by doing a harvest. Overall, lumber prices  

    are down 20 percent from their high and 10 percent from the last harvest. duPlessis said  

    the economy is different than it was during the previous discussion. Cole said he’s fine  

    with not doing a harvest this year. Council agreed by consensus. The original discussion  

    was to try and do a harvest every other year. McCoy said he could rock some roads to  

    prepare for the next harvest. Budge asked about doing a master plan for the watershed.  

    McCoy said a contractor is working on that and it will cost around $3,000. That will  

    consist of aerial photography to determine the inventory. The city will then have a better  

    idea of its net acreage and age classifications. Cole agreed that if a harvest isn’t be done  

    this year, a master plan should be done instead. He added that the sustainability of the  

    watershed is his goal.  

c. Appointment to Planning Commission Position #2—Cole recommended that Nick  

    Gratzer be appointed. Kreger moved to appoint Gratzer to Planning Commission  

    Position 2. That motion was seconded by Cooper and adopted unanimously. 

d. First Reading of Ordinance 1082—Pertaining to Flood Damage Prevention in the    

    City of Rainier 

e. First Reading of Ordinance 1083—Regarding the Annexation of Contiguous  

    Properties and Annexation of Properties that are a Danger to Public Health 

f.  First Reading of Ordinance 1084—Repealing Ordinance 1055 

            g. First Reading of Ordinance 1085—To Amend the Rainier Zoning Code Text:  

    Chapter 18.50.050, Sections C 2(a) and D 2(a)—Quality of Materials 

h. Consider Approval of Resolution #22-06-01—Related to Adoption of the 2022-23  

    Budget—Kreger moved to approve the resolution. That motion was seconded by  

    Howell and adopted unanimously, with Cooper abstaining.  

i.  Consider Approval of Resolution #22-06-02—Declaring the City’s Election to  

    Receive State Revenues for the Fiscal Year 2022-23—Kreger moved to approve the  

    resolution. That motion was seconded by Cooper and adopted unanimously.  

 j. Authorize Mower Purchase—Cole said public works currently has a diesel-run mower  

    that has lasted for over 25 years. Public Works Director Sue Lawrence has  

    recommended the Kubota. Cooper moved to authorize the purchase of the Kubota for  

    the $16,714.54 bid that was received. That motion was seconded by Kreger and  

    adopted unanimously.   

 

     Unfinished Business 

a. Second Reading of Ordinance 1087—Establishing Rules and Regulations for  

         Recreational Vehicles—Kreger moved to approve the ordinance. That motion was  

         seconded by Cooper and adopted unanimously. Budge had some language she wanted to  

    add to a section of the ordinance. Cole said that can be amended at a future meeting.  

b. Riverfront Trail Update—Cole suggested removing the item from the agenda, as the  

    project has been completed. Council agreed by consensus.  

 c. Fox Creek Update—Jorgensen said he met with Kate Trudeau, the regional mitigation  

                and recovery coordinator for the Oregon Office of Emergency Management (OEM).  

                They went over the grant funding opportunities for the project, and they coincide with  

                 the completion of the feasibility study that’s currently being conducted. The notice of  

                funding should go out towards the end of August or early September. Then the city  

                would have to submit a letter of intent, which will be informed by the study. The pre- 

                application will take place in November or December. Then the OEM will select  

                projects and award grants. Trudeau will find out the timeline for the grant award and if  



 

4 
 

                it will be a reimbursement grant.  

 d. Senior and Multigenerational Housing—Budge said that Mike Avent would like to  

                participate in the committee that will be formed. Cole said council can discuss it  

                further at its July meeting.  

 

     Staff Report—Budge asked Police Chief Gregg Griffith about code enforcement. He said the  

     department is still down one officer and doing the background checks for its new recruit. Budge  

     asked if the new ordinances will help. Griffith said they will. Code enforcement will be easier  

     to do once the department is fully staffed. Cole asked if Griffith should put together written  

     reports on abatement activity for council packets. Griffith said he could. City Recorder Sarah  

     Blodgett said that new utility billing clerk Dana Potter has been working for the past few weeks  

     and is doing well. Jorgensen said he conducted and completed contract negotiations with  

     Teamsters Local 58 for the city’s clerical and public works employees. They voted to approve  

     the contract earlier in the day. He attended the mayor’s prayer breakfast and worked on the  

     budget. He and Lawrence have been meeting with representatives of a company that provides  

     security cameras, and he emceed the riverfront bridge dedication event on May 29.  

 

     Council Reports—Cooper was pleased with the handrails that were added to the riverfront  

     trail. Richardson said the dedication ceremony went well and he appreciates the asphalt  

     improvements that were made around the park. duPlessis thanked the police department for  

     putting together the graduation parade for high school seniors. Kreger said he’ll be speaking to  

     the history clubs at the high school and middle school about the city, military and the VFW.  

     Cole said the dedication ceremony had good turnout and weather.  

 

    City Calendar/Announcements—Cole said the next council meetings will be June 27 and  

    July 11.  

      

      Cole adjourned the regular council meeting at 7:45 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________              ______________________________________ 

Mayor Jerry Cole                         W. Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator   

 

 

 

































CWCOG Contract No.  2022-424   
Scanned:     

 1 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

 
CONTRACT AGREEMENT 

FOR 
PLANNING ASSISTANCE, CITY OF RAINIER OR 

 

THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference purposes July 01, 2022, is entered into by and between the Cowlitz-
Wahkiakum Council of Governments, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “CWCOG”), 
and City of Rainier, Oregon (hereinafter referred to as the “Agency”), collectively the “Parties” and 
individually the “Party.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the CWCOG is a regional planning agency organized under RCW 36.64.080 to serve general 
and special purpose governments in Cowlitz and Wahkiakum region; and 

WHEREAS, the Agency has expressed the necessity for professional planning services as specified in the 
Agreement’s Exhibit A – Scope of Work; and 

WHEREAS, the CWCOG is qualified to provide professional planning services supported by experienced 
and skilled staff; and 

WHEREAS, [ADDITIONAL PROJECT DETAILS, IF DEEMED NECESSARY].  

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. PURPOSE  

1.1 The CWCOG agrees to perform and complete the work as described in Exhibit A – Scope of Work 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Work”), attached hereto and by this reference made a part of this 
Agreement. 

1.2 The Agency agrees to reimburse the CWCOG for the Work as provided in Section 3 of this 
Agreement and as defined in Exhibit B – Compensation Rates, attached hereto and by this 
reference made a part of this Agreement. 

2. CWCOG & AGENCY RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1 CWCOG RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1.1 The CWCOG shall make available to the Agency professional planning staff qualified to fulfill the 
Scope of Work outlined in Exhibit A – Scope of Work. 

2.2 AGENCY RESPONSIBILITIES  

2.2.1 The Agency shall provide CWCOG staff with applicable guidance, ordinances, background 
information, and related documentation in its possession deemed necessary to accomplish the 
work outlined in this agreement. 

3. PAYMENT 

3.1 The Agency, in consideration of the faithful performance of the services to be provided by the 
CWCOG as described in Exhibit A – Scope of Work, agrees to reimburse the CWCOG for actual 
direct and related indirect costs of the Work to a maximum, not-to-exceed amount of Twelve 
Thousand dollars ($12,000.00), as established in this Agreement. 

3.2 The compensation rate for services to be provided by the CWCOG is marked Exhibit B – 
Compensation Rates and is attached hereto and by this reference made a part of this Agreement. 

  



 2 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

3.3 Upon request of the CWCOG and upon the CWCOG’s submission to the Agency of invoices and 
supporting materials as deemed appropriate by the Agency, payment shall be made by the Agency 
to the CWCOG for expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred in performing the Work. The 
CWCOG shall request reimbursement from the Agency not more than one time per calendar 
month. 

3.4 The CWCOG’s request for reimbursement to the Agency shall detail the Work accomplished 
during the current billing period, as well as a summary of the total costs billed to date. The invoice 
shall summarize all CWCOG staff time and expenses. 

3.5 To ensure payment, the CWCOG shall email (preferred) or mail via United States Postal Service 
invoices and supporting materials to the appropriate contact in Section 6 of this Agreement. 

3.6 The Agency shall make payment in full to the CWCOG within thirty (30) calendar days after its 
receipt of an appropriate invoice and approved supporting materials from the CWCOG. 

3.7 If there is a change in the Scope of Work to be performed by the CWCOG that results in an increase 
in costs in excess of the maximum amount allowed under section 3.1 herein, the Parties shall 
enter into an amendment to this Agreement to document the change in scope and to increase 
the maximum amount reimbursable under this Agreement. 

3.8 The CWCOG agrees to submit a final invoice to the Agency within sixty (60) calendar days after 
the CWCOG has completed the Work. At the time of final billing, all necessary adjustments will be 
made and reflected in the final payment. In the event that such final review or audit reveals 
overpayment to the CWCOG or under billings to the Agency, the CWCOG agrees to refund any 
overpayment to the Agency within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of an invoice from the 
Agency and the Agency agrees to reimburse the under billed amount to the CWCOG within thirty 
(30) calendar days after the Agency’s receipt of an invoice. 

4. AMENDMENT 

 This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and understandings, agreements, representations not contained in this Agreement 
shall not be binding on either Party. Either Party may request changes to the provisions of this 
Agreement. Such changes that are mutually agreed upon shall be incorporated by written 
amendment to this Agreement. No variation or alteration of the terms of this Agreement shall be 
valid unless made in writing and signed by authorized representatives of the Parties hereto. 

5. TERM / TERMINATION 

5.1 The term of this Agreement shall begin July 01, 2022, and terminate June 30, 2023, or earlier if 
agreed to in writing by the Parties, except as set forth below in this section. The term of this 
Agreement may be modified and continued by amendment for work beyond this date at the 
discretion of the Parties. 

5.2 Either Party may terminate this Agreement at any time in the event the other Party fails to 
perform a material obligation of this Agreement or fails to perform any of the requirements of 
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, if either Party fails to make reasonable progress on 
the Work or other violation of this Agreement that endangers substantial performance of the 
Work. The Parties shall serve written notice of a Party’s intent to terminate this Agreement setting 
forth in detail the reasons for such termination. The Party receiving such notice of intent to 
terminate shall be given the opportunity to remedy the default within fifteen (15) calendar days 
of receipt of such notice. If the default is not cured within the designated time period, this 
Agreement may be terminated immediately by written notice of the aggrieved Party to the other. 

 



 3 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

5.3 Either Party may terminate this Agreement for convenience and without cause upon thirty (30) 
days written notice to the other Party. The Agency shall pay in full for all services provided up to 
the date of termination of this Agreement.  

6. PARTY CONTACTS 

All contact between the Parties, including, but not limited to, Agreement administration, will be 
between the representatives of each Party or their designee as follows: 

CWCOG AGENCY 
 

William A. (Bill) Fashing, Executive Director 
Email: bfashing@cwcog.org 
 

Financial/Contract Amendments Designee: 
Anisa Kisamore, CAO 
Email: akisamore@cwcog.org 
 

 

Jerry Cole, Mayor 
Email: mayor@cityofrainier.com 
 

Electronic Invoice Designee: 
Sarah Blodgett, Office Manager 
Email: sblodgett@cityofrainier.com 

 

Cowlitz-Wahkiakum Council of Govts 
Administration Annex / 207 4th Avenue N 
Kelso, WA 98626 
 

 

City of Rainier 
PO Box 100 
Rainier, OR 97048 

 

Telephone:  (360) 577-3041 
Facsimile:   (360) 214-3425 
 

 

Telephone:  (503) 556-7301 
Facsimile:   (503) 556-3200 

 

7. NOTIFICATION 

Any notice required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sent postage 
prepaid by U.S. Mail, return receipt requested, to the individual(s) identified in Section 6 herein 
unless otherwise indicated in writing by the Parties to the Agreement. 

8. INDEMNIFICATION 

8.1 Each Party to this Agreement shall protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the other Party, 
its officers, employees, and agents, while acting within the scope of their employment as such, 
from any and all costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs), claims, judgments, and/or 
awards of damages (both to persons and/or property), arising out of, or in any way resulting from, 
each of the Party’s own negligent acts or omissions with respect to the provisions of this 
Agreement. No party will be required to indemnify, defend, or save harmless the other Party if 
the claim, suit, or action for injuries, death, or damages (both to persons and/or property) is 
caused by the sole negligence of the other Party. Where such claims, suits, or actions result from 
the concurrent negligence of the Parties, the indemnity provisions provided herein shall be valid 
and enforceable only to the extent of the Party’s own negligent acts or omission. Each Party 
waives its immunity under Title 51 RCW to the extent it is required to indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the other Party and its agencies, officials, agents, or employees. 

8.2 The indemnification obligation described in this section shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement. 

9. DISPUTES 

 The designated representatives herein under Section 6 of this Agreement shall use their best 
efforts to resolve disputes between the Parties. If these individuals are unable to resolve a 

mailto:bfashing@cwcog.org


 4 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

dispute, the Parties shall agree upon a third party to provide non-binding mediation of the issue 
prior to institution of litigation. Each Party shall bear its own costs and one-half of the cost of the 
third-party mediator. 

10. VENUE 

 This Agreement shall be deemed to be made in the County of Cowlitz, State of Washington, and 
the legal rights and obligations of the Parties shall be determined in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Washington. All legal actions in connection with this Agreement shall be brought in 
the superior court situated in the County of Cowlitz, State of Washington. 

11. ATTORNEY FEES & COSTS  

 In the event a suit, or other proceeding of any nature whatsoever, including without limitation 
any proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, is instituted, or the services of an attorney are 
retained to interpret or enforce any provision of this Agreement or with respect to any dispute 
relating to this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the losing party 
its attorneys’, paralegals’, accountants’, and other experts’ fees and all other fees, costs, and 
expenses actually incurred and reasonably necessary in connection therewith. In the event of suit, 
action, arbitration, or other proceeding, the amount thereof shall be determined by the judge or 
arbitrator, and shall include fees and expenses incurred on any appeal or review, and shall be in 
addition to all other amounts provided by law. 

12. SEVERABILITY 

 If any provision of this Agreement or its application is held invalid, the remainder of the 
Agreement or the application of the remainder shall not be affected. 

13. ASSIGNMENT 

 Neither this Agreement nor any interest therein may be assigned by either Party without first 
obtaining the written consent of the other Party. 

14. NONDISCRIMINATION 

 No person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, or 
handicapped condition, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be 
otherwise subjected to discrimination under activities performed pursuant to this Agreement. 

15. RECORD RETENTION & AUDIT 

 During the progress of the Work and for a period of not less than six (6) years from the date of 
final payment to the CWCOG, the records and accounts pertaining to the services under this 
Agreement and accounting thereof shall be kept available for inspection and audit by the Parties, 
City, State, and/or Federal Government, and copies of all records, accounts, documents, or other 
data pertaining to this Agreement will be furnished upon request. The Parties shall have full access 
to and right to examine and copy said records during normal business hours and as often as it 
deems necessary. The Parties agree that the services performed herein are subject to audit by 
either or both Parties. 

16. COPYRIGHTS 

 Copyright of all material created by the CWCOG and paid for with funds as a part of this 
Agreement shall be deemed the property of the Agency authored by the CWCOG. Either Party 
may use the material and permit others to use such for any purpose consistent with the Party’s 
respective mission. This material includes, but is not limited to, documents, reports, books, 
videos, pamphlets, sound reproductions, photographs, studies, surveys, tapes, and training 
material. Materials used to perform the services and create the deliverables of this Agreement 



 5 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

that are not created for or paid for through this Agreement shall be owned by such party as 
determined by law. The legal owner thereof hereby grants a perpetual, unrestricted, royalty free, 
non-exclusive license to the other party to use and to permit others to use for any purpose 
consistent with the respective mission of said material. 

17. AUTHORIZED SIGNATURES 

 The undersigned acknowledge that they are authorized to execute this Agreement and bind their 
respective agencies to the obligations set forth herein. 

18. COUNTERPARTS 

 This agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all such counterparts shall constitute one agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS HEREOF, the Parties have subscribed their names hereto effective as of the year and date 
first written above. 
 
 
COWLITZ-WAHKIAKUM  
COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS  CITY OF RAINIER, OR 
 
 
    
By:  William A. Fashing  By:  Jerry Cole 
Its:  Executive Director  Its:  Mayor 
 
Date:     Date:     
 
 
ATTEST ATTEST 
 
 
    
By:  Anisa Kisamore  By: W. Scott Jorgensen 
Its:  Chief Administrative Officer  Its:  City Administrator 
 
Date:      Date:     
 
 
 APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
    
  By:     
  Its:  Agency Attorney  
 
  Date:      
 
 
 



 6 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

Exhibit A 
 

SCOPE OF WORK 
FOR 

PLANNING ASSISTANCE, CITY OF RAINIER OR 
 
 
1. PLANNING ASSISTANCE 
 
1.1 WORK TASKS 

 
1.1.1 Attend meetings of the planning commission, city council, and other boards or 

commissions as requested or as necessary to transmit or develop work. 

1.1.2 Attend pre-application conferences and offer feedback on land-use proposals to 
prospective applicants. As appropriate to the type of permit, advise the building official on 
land-use aspects of development projects or consider other committee members' input 
when approving, denying, and/or placing conditions on short subdivisions and boundary 
line adjustments. 

1.1.3 As appropriate, prepare staff reports with findings and recommendations for the hearing 
examiner, planning commission, or for city council's consideration on conditional use 
permits, variances, special use permits, similar use authorizations, amendments to the 
zoning text or map, amendments to the comprehensive plan map or text, subdivisions 
(preliminary/final plats), condominiums, binding site plans, annexations, critical areas 
permit, and appeals. Conduct follow-up work to carry out hearing examiner and council's 
decisions. 

1.1.4 Present staff reports at applicable public hearings and assist hearing examiner and city 
council in answering the general public or applicants’ concerns. 

1.1.5 Assist with city ordinance and land-use administration procedures, identify roles and 
responsibilities, and develop amendments as necessary maintaining compliance with state 
and federal laws and other ordinances. 

1.1.6 Assist Agency staff with the review of environmental documents and threshold 
determinations for proposals. 

1.1.7 Aid the Agency staff and the public in response to questions concerning land use and 
development. Prepare staff reports and recommendations for the planning commission 
when official code clarifications are necessary. 

1.1.8 Provide general assistance for such activities as grant applications and administration, 
researching specific issues, attending meetings (including Agency staff meetings) and 
hearings on behalf of the Agency as requested. 

1.1.9 Assist the Agency in annexation requests, coordination, and preparation for approval by 
the Agency, county, and state agencies. 

1.1.10 Provide consultations with Agency staff, the public, and applicants as needed for planning 
assistance matters. 

  



 7 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

1.2 COORDINATION OF WORK 
 

The project lead will consult with the appropriate local, state, and federal agencies, and private 

interests affected by land use proposals. 

 
1.3. DELIVERABLE(S) 

 
Legally defensible, written staff reports, and oral presentations on applications and proposals on a 

project-by-project basis. 



 8 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services 

Exhibit B 
 

COMPENSATION RATES 
FOR 

PLANNING ASSISTANCE, CITY OF RAINIER OR 
 
 

The following rates are applicable to the 2022 calendar year  
with the range reflective of projected rates for the 2023 calendar year. 

 
PLANNING SERVICES 

Position Rate 

Community Development Planner $$65.25-87.72 

 
SERVICE COORDINATION RATES: 

Position Rate Range 

Management $62.28-126.26 

Planner/GIS $65.25-87.72 

Planning Support $48.81-50.84 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Resolution No. 22-06-03  Adopted June __, 2022 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 
 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
City of Rainier, Oregon 

 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING        ) 

A SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET       ) 

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-22           )     Resolution #22-06-03 
 

WHEREAS, ORS 294.471(1)(a) allows the governing body of a municipal corporation to 

make one or more supplemental budgets if an occurrence or condition that is not ascertained when 

preparing the original budget or a previous supplemental budget for the current year or current 

budget period requires a change in financial planning; and 

WHEREAS, if amended estimated expenditures differ by more than 10 percent from the 

expenditures in the budget as most recently amended prior to the supplemental budget, ORS 

294.473(1)(c) states that, after a public hearing, additional expenditures contained in the 

supplemental budget may not be made unless the governing body of the municipal corporation enacts 

appropriation ordinances or resolutions authorizing the expenditures; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Rainier, Oregon wishes to adjust its budget to recognize 1) a reclassification 

of appropriations that were incorrect in the original budget adoption resolution; 2) an increase to 

professional and legal services of $16,000 for abatement of a burned property; and 3) $11,000 in 

Library grant awards and expenditures. 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, after completion of a public hearing, by and through 

the City Council meeting in regular session, the City Council hereby adopts the following 

supplemental budget, revises appropriations, and adjusts the fiscal year 2021-22 adopted budget as 

follows: 

 
 



 

Resolution No. 22-06-03  Adopted June __, 2022 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
 
 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Rainier, Oregon this 27th day of 

June, 2022. 

 

 

 

 
      ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________ _______________________________  

Jerry Cole W. Scott Jorgensen 

Mayor for the City of Rainier  City Administrator 
 

Fund/Org. Unit/Object Classification

Adopted 

Budget Change

Amended 

Budget

GENERAL FUND

Resources:

Library - Summer Reading Program Grant -$             2,000$          2,000$          

Library - ARPA Funds -$             9,000$          9,000$          

Total Resources 11,000$      

Requirements:

General Government 388,638$      (286,773)$     101,865$      *

Library 68,800$        11,000$        79,800$        *

Attorney 7,500$          2,000$          9,500$          *

Not allocated:

Transfers Out -$             248,803$      248,803$      *

Contingency -$             35,970$        35,970$        *

Total Requirements 11,000$      

Net Budget Adjustment -$            

* Appropriation Level







 

 

 

 

 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 
 

CITY OF RAINIER 
PUBLIC WORKS/CLERICAL 

 
AND 

 
CHAUFFEURS, TEAMSTERS & HELPERS, 

LOCAL 58 
 
 
 

Upon Execution to June 30, 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION 1 

ARTICLE 2 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 1 

ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY AND UNION RIGHTS 2 

ARTICLE 4 – BULLETIN BOARD 2 

ARTICLE 5 – UNION VISITATION 2 

ARTICLE 6 – NON-DISCRIMINATION 3 

ARTICLE 7 – PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE 3 

ARTICLE 8 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 4 

ARTICLE 9 – SENIORITY 6 

ARTICLE 10 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD 7 

ARTICLE 11 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 7 

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS 9 

ARTICLE 13 – VACATIONS 11 

ARTICLE 14 – SICK LEAVE 12 

ARTICLE 15 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 14 

ARTICLE 16 – JURY DUTY 14 

ARTICLE 17 – WAGES 15 

ARTICLE 18 – HEALTH AND WELFARE 16 

ARTICLE 19 – TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT & LODGING EXPENSE 17 

ARTICLE 20 – TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 18 

ARTICLE 21 – JOB ANNOUNCEMENTS 18 

ARTICLE 22 – PERSONNEL FILE 18 

ARTICLE 23 – PERSONNEL POLICIES AND WORK RULES 19 

ARTICLE 24 – SAFETY 19 

ARTICLE 25 – DRUG TESTING 19 



 

 

ARTICLE 26 – PENSION 20 

ARTICLE 27 – CLOTHING PAYMENT 20 

ARTICLE 28 – SAVINGS CLAUSE 20 

ARTICLE 29 – TERMINATION 21 

APPENDIX A - WAGE SCALE 23 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 1 

ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION 
 
Section 1. The City recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining 
representative for employees employed by the City in the classifications listed in Schedule 
A, attached hereto. 
 
Specifically excluded from this bargaining unit are all employees who are represented 
under another bargaining unit; all supervisory and confidential employees as defined by 
ORS 243.650 (6) and (23); part-time employees working less than fifty (50) hours per 
month; temporary employees (limited duration with no expectation of continued employee 
not to exceed 180 days unless extended by mutual agreement), and casual employees.    
 
 
ARTICLE 2 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
Section 1. Except as limited by an express provision of this Agreement, the Employer 
shall retain the right to exercise the customary functions of management, including, but 
not limited to, directing the activities of the City, determining the levels of service and 
methods of operation, including the introduction of new equipment, the right to hire, layoff, 
transfer, reorganize, promote, demote, discipline, discharge, and to determine and assign 
work schedules, assign work, determine and assign needed training in conformity with 
this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. The Employer and the Union hereby recognize that delivery of services in 
the most efficient, effective and courteous manner is of paramount importance to the 
Employer, and as such, maximized performance is recognized to be an obligation of 
employees covered by this Agreement. In order to achieve this goal, the parties hereby 
recognize the Employer's right to determine the methods, processes, and means of 
providing services; to increase, diminish, or change equipment, including the introduction 
of any and all new, improved, or automated methods of equipment, and the assignment 
of employees to specific jobs within the bargaining unit. 
 
Section 3. The Employer may establish, revise, and implement standards for 
performance, discipline, quality of work, qualifications, safety, materials, equipment, 
uniforms, appearances, methods and procedures. It is jointly hereby recognized that the 
Employer must retain broad authority to fulfill its responsibilities and may do so by work 
rules existing or future. 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 2 

 
ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY AND UNION RIGHTS 
 
Section 1. Membership or non-membership in the Union shall be the individual choice 
of employees covered by this Agreement.   
 
Section 2. The City agrees to deduct from the paycheck of each employee who has so 
authorized the regular monthly dues uniformly required of members of the Union. The 
amounts deducted shall be transmitted monthly to the Union on behalf of the employees 
involved. Authorization by the employee shall be on forms provided by the Union.   
 
Section 3. The Union agrees to hold the City harmless against any legal action brought 
against the City in reference to the fair share representative fee deduction. 
 
Section 4. The City agrees to deduct from the paycheck of all employees who covered 
by this Agreement voluntary contributions to DRIVE.  DRIVE shall notify the City of the 
amounts designated by each contributing employee that are to be deducted from their 
paycheck.  The City shall transmit to DRIVE National Headquarters on a monthly basis, 
in one check, the total amount deducted along with the name of each employee on whose 
behalf a deduction is made, and the amount of the deduction shall be noted on the 
employee’s paycheck.  The International Brotherhood of Teamsters shall reimburse the 
City annually for the City’s actual cost for the expenses incurred in administering the 
payroll deduction plan. 
 
 
ARTICLE 4 – BULLETIN BOARD 
 
Section 1. The City agrees to furnish and maintain bulletin board space in a convenient 
place in the work area. Such space may be used by the Union. The Union will limit use of 
the board to factual matters and notices shall be signed and dated by an authorized official 
of the Union. 
 
 
ARTICLE 5 – UNION VISITATION 
 
Section 1. Authorized agents of the Union shall have reasonable access to the work 
areas in the building of the employees covered by this Agreement during working hours 
but will not unreasonably interfere with the employee's work. Prior to gaining such access, 
the Union Business Agent shall first contact the appropriate non-union supervisor. 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 3 

ARTICLE 6 – NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
Section 1. Neither the Employer nor the Union will discriminate in hiring, promotion, or 
continued employment because of race, religion, creed, color, age, disability, national 
origin, sex, sexual orientation or Disabled Veteran status. 
 
 
ARTICLE 7 – PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE 
Section 1. The Employer agrees to act in good faith in the discipline of any employee. 
Depending on the severity of the violation involved and the employee's past record, 
disciplinary action may include but not be limited to; written reprimand, suspension 
without pay, loss of pay or privileges, demotion, or discharge. Prior disciplinary action will 
normally be expected before the Employer acts to suspend or discharge the employee. 
This shall be considered "progressive discipline." However, no prior disciplinary action 
shall be deemed necessary in cases of discharge or suspension in convictions of the 
Oregon Criminal Code, theft, gross insubordination, willful dishonesty, using or being 
under the influence of alcohol or controlled substance during working hours; gross 
negligence, violence or other misdeeds similar as to the seriousness of their impact on 
the employer-employee relationship. 
 
Notice of counseling or verbal reprimands, even if reduced to writing, are not considered 
formal discipline; such will not be placed in the employee’s personal file and may be noted 
in the next yearly evaluation.  Verbal reprimands will be considered stale after one year 
or after yearly evaluation, the longer of either, subject that no further similarly related 
conduct has occurred.   
 
Section 2. Whenever an employee is being interviewed by the City for a purpose which 
may lead to disciplinary action, the employee shall have the right, if such employee so 
requests at that time, to have a representative of the Union present during the meeting 
on the pending matter. The Union representative shall be present only as an observer 
and advisor and shall not act in obstruction. When a decision is made on the matter, the 
City Administrator shall notify the employee of such decision as soon as reasonably 
possible. 

 
Section 3. The City will provide 72 hours’ notice to any employee who is the subject of 
a disciplinary investigation interview. The City will conduct an investigation within a 
reasonable time, generally within 30 days of notice of alleged misconduct.  Should more 
time be necessary, the City will provide notice and explanation.   
 
Section 4. Prior to imposition of a suspension or termination, the employee will be 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 4 

provided a reasonable opportunity for a rebuttal meeting or similar proceeding. The Union 
or employee will have the opportunity to present evidence on the employee's behalf, 
including mitigating factors.  
 
Section 5. If the City decides to issue discipline, it will do so within a reasonable 
amount time (in most cases sixty days) after notice of the investigation and in a manner 
that will not unduly embarrass the employee in front of other employees or the public. 
Should more time be necessary, the City will provide notice and explanation. The City 
shall provide the Union with written notice of any written reprimand, suspension, or 
discharge. 
 
Section 6. A counseling or verbal reprimand reduced to writing will not remain in effect 
for a period of more than twelve (12) months from the date of said notice. Counseling and 
verbal reprimands are not subject to the grievance procedure provided in Article 8 of this 
Agreement. 
 
 
ARTICLE 8 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
Section 1. In the event of any dispute arising as to the interpretation or application of 
this Agreement, the matter shall be handled in the following manner: 

 
Step 1. The employee and/or shop steward shall first informally take up the 

complaint with his or her supervisor within ten (10) days from the 
date of the occurrence of the event which originally precipitated the 
grievance or within ten (10) days of the time the employee should 
reasonably have become aware of such event. 

 
Step 2. If the matter is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 1, the employee 

and/or the Union may reduce the grievance to writing and present it 
to the City Administrator or designated representative within twenty 
(20) working days of the occurrence of the event which originally 
precipitated the grievance. The written grievance shall include the 
following: 

 
a) A concise statement of the grievance and the facts upon 

which it is based. 
b) The specific Article(s) of the Agreement alleged to have been 

violated or misinterpreted. 
c) The specific remedial action sought. 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 5 

 
The Union and City Administrator will meet within fifteen (15) working days of 
receipt of the Step 2 grievance to discuss the merits of the grievance.  The City 
Administrator will have ten (10) working days thereafter to provide a written 
response. 
 
Step 3. If the matter is not resolved at Step 2, the Union may, within seven 

(7) days of the receipt of the City Administrator's written response, 
provide written notice to the City of its desire to refer the matter to 
mediation. The Union will request a mediator from the Oregon 
Employment Relations Board inclusive of notice to the City. The 
parties will share equally the cost of the ERB mediator. The 
mediation period will not exceed ninety (90) days from date of filing 
for mediation unless otherwise agreed. Termination cases are not 
subject to mediation unless mutually agreed.   

 
Step 4. If the matter is not resolved at Step 3, the Union may, within 14 

working days from expiration of the mediation period above, provide 
written notice to the City of its desire to refer the matter to arbitration 
and will request an arbitrator list of seven (7) names from the Oregon 
Employment Relations Board (with copy to the City).  The parties 
shall alternately strike names until one remains, starting with the 
moving party. 

 
The Arbitrator shall convene a hearing on the matter(s) at issue and 
render a decision as soon as is practicable. 

 

The Arbitrator, shall rule only on the issue(s) presented and shall 
confine its decision to interpretation and application of the language 
of this Agreement. The Arbitrator shall have no right to add to, delete 
from, modify or nullify any provision of this Agreement. 

 

The decision of the Arbitrator shall be based solely on evidence and 
testimony provided at the hearing and shall be final and binding on 
the parties. 

 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 6 

Section 2. The City and the Union shall pay the costs incurred in presenting their own 
cases under this Article. Expenses and/or fees of the Arbitrator shall be paid by the losing 
party. 
 
Section 3. Any time limits specified in this Article may be waived or extended by mutual 
agreement between the City and the Union. Failure to submit a grievance in accordance 
with the specified time limits without such written agreement shall constitute waiver and 
abandonment of the grievance. In the event the parties dispute timeline issues for matters 
submitted to arbitration, the Arbitrator will be limited to hear the timeliness arguments first, 
including any closing summation by the parties. The Arbitrator will then rule from the 
bench on the timeliness issue. 
 
Section 4. A grievance may be terminated at any time upon receipt of a signed 
statement to that effect from the Union. 
 
 
ARTICLE 9 – SENIORITY 
 
Section 1. Upon satisfactory completion of a probationary period, an employee's 
seniority for layoff shall be calculated on the basis of consecutive service in a job 
classification. Seniority for other matters is years of service since last date of hire. 
 
Section 2. Seniority shall prevail in the preference of scheduling of vacations, 
compensatory time and holiday time off, provided such preference does not cause miss-
staffing or undue disruption to normal operations. In the interest of public safety, shift 
assignments will be made by the City based upon manpower needs, experience 
qualifications and ability. 
 
Section 3. In the event a layoff appears imminent, the City will contact the Union to 
immediately begin discussions regarding the possibility of reducing the hours of work for 
all members of the bargaining unit as a means to reduce and/or prevent the necessity of 
layoffs. Either party may at any time terminate these discussions. 
 
In the event of a layoff, all extra part-time and temporary employees in a given 
classification shall be laid off prior to the layoff of any regular full-time or regular part-time 
employees in that classification. 
 
In determining the order of layoff and recall of employees, the City shall consider 
qualifications, capability, skills and past performance of the employees involved. If the 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 7 

City determines that the qualifications, capability, skills, and past job performance of the 
employees are equal, seniority shall prevail. 
 
Section 4. A reasonable effort shall be made to give overtime opportunities to 
bargaining unit members in order of seniority prior to being filled by temporary or seasonal 
workers. 
 
Section 5. Part-time employees (less than forty {40} hours per week) shall be given the 
opportunity for extra work prior to hiring of temporary employees, if the part-time 
employee is qualified and capable to perform the available work. 
 
 
ARTICLE 10 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD 
 
Section 1. During an original appointment probationary period, a probationary 
employee serves at the pleasure of the City and may be terminated at any time without 
recourse to the grievance procedure of this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. The initial probation period for new hire employees shall be for a period of 
six (6) months. (180 calendar days from date of hire) The City may extend a 
probationary period an additional 6 months at their discretion upon mutual agreement 
with the Union. 
 
 
ARTICLE 11 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
 
Section 1. The full-time workweek, to the extent consistent with the operating 
requirements of the department, shall be five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour workdays with 
two (2) consecutive days off or four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour workdays with three 
consecutive days off. The City will provide two weeks of notice prior to changing an 
employee's work schedule from five days to four days or vice versa unless the employee 
and City mutually agree to waive the notice requirement. Any additional modifications to 
the existing workweek schedule shall be by mutual agreement between the City and the 
Union. When the City implements more than one schedule for employees in a specific 
classification, choice of schedule will be by seniority for the employees within the 
classification. 
 
Section 2. Employees required to work in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek, or 
eight (8) hours in a workday on a 5/8 shift or ten (10) hours in a workday on a 4/10 shift, 
shall be compensated for such time at the rate of time and one-half (1 ½) the employee's 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 8 

regular hourly rate of pay.  Paid leaves, except for sick leave up to the first forty (40) hours 
per calendar year and holidays provided in Article 12, do not count as hours worked for 
the purposes of overtime calculations.    
 
Section 3. At the employee's option, the employee may be paid in compensatory time 
off or pay for overtime worked. An employee may accumulate up to a maximum of one 
hundred and sixty (160) hours of compensatory time. Scheduling of compensatory time 
off must be by mutual agreement between the employee and their supervisor. Employees 
may accumulate additional compensatory time over the one hundred and sixty (160) hour 
cap only by mutual Agreement between the City and the employee.   
 
Section 4. In no event shall overtime be paid twice for the same hour(s) of work. 
 
Section 5. Callback time shall be approved by the supervisor. Employees called out to 
a work site location or City facility during off duty hours or while on-call shall be 
compensated for a minimum of two hours pay at the overtime rate of pay and for actual 
hours worked for any hours over the two hours minimum, rounded up to the nearest one-
quarter (1/4) hour.   Call out begins from the time of departure from the notice of callback.  
Commute time after completion of the work is not compensated.  This provision does not 
apply to hold over time on a shift or early reporting time contiguous with the end or start 
of a regular shift.   
 
Employees approved to respond to calls to work off duty that do not require employees 
to report to a work site location or City facility will be compensated for a minimum of fifteen 
(15) minutes or actual hours worked, whichever is longer. (for example: phone calls, 
remote work from computer).  Employees will log their time and activity when engaged in 
call back work. A phone/text communication of less than 5 minutes is considered 
insubstantial and di minimus and not compensable, unless multiple successive calls and 
extended duration are logged.    
 
Section 6. On Call Duty Pay. When the City requires an employee to carry a 
communication device in order to respond to calls concerning City business, the City shall 
pay the employee a flat rate of pay of $300 for a period of seven (7) consecutive calendar 
days of on-call duty. During that period the employee shall respond by telephone within 
fifteen (15) minutes of the call or page.  If the call requires the employee to respond on 
site, the employee shall be on site (the public works yard or location of the incident) within 
thirty (30) minutes of the call. An employee who is required to return to work to a work 
site location in response to a call shall be paid call back time as set forth in Section 5. 
When an employee is assigned to on-call duty, an appropriate communications device 
shall be provided.  An employee assigned to on-call may agree with another employee to 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 9 

exchange days of the 7-day assignment with prior written notice and approval by the 
supervisor.  Exchanges must be in full day increments.  An employee who accepts to 
exchange a day of on-call assignment agrees to all the responsibilities of being on-call 
and will receive a prorated share of $40 daily.  Weekly on-call assignments begin on 
Tuesdays.  
 
If an employee assigned to on-call duty becomes ill, the employee will contact a 
supervisor to arrange reassignment of on-call duties.  Reassignment of on-call duty will 
result in prorated payment. An employee must not be under the influence of alcohol, 
narcotics or other drugs while on on-call duty.  On-call assignment is not compensable 
hours worked.  
 
Section 7. All employees regularly scheduled to work five (5) hours or more will 
receive, at the Employer's option, an unpaid meal period of either thirty (30) minutes or 
one (1) hour which the Employer will attempt to schedule as close as possible to the 
middle of the shift.  An employee who is required to work through the meal period may 
request that the meal period be rescheduled, and an employee who is unable to take a 
meal, period due to the Employer's request will receive overtime pay for the designated 
meal period, provided the employee completes his/her full scheduled shift. The Employer 
and the affected employee may mutually agree to forego the above-mentioned meal 
period. 
 
Section 8. Employees will receive one (1) fifteen (15) minute paid break for each four 
(4) hours of work. If breaks are scheduled in advance and business needs preclude an 
employee from taking a scheduled break, the Employer will attempt to reschedule the 
breaks during the same workday. Breaks will be considered on-duty time, provided 
employees are available and can be contacted when needed. 
 
 
ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS   
 
Section 1. All regular employees shall be entitled to the official holidays listed below, 
with pay. Full-time employees shall receive regular compensation; part-time employees 
shall be compensated in proportion to their budgeted FTE.   

 
New Year’s Day, January 1 
Martin Luther King's Birthday, Third Monday in January  
President's Day, Third Monday in February 
Memorial Day, Last Monday in May 
Independence Day, July 4 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 10 

Labor Day, First Monday in September 
Veterans Day, November 11 
Thanksgiving Day, Fourth Thursday in November  
Christmas Day, December 25 
 
Holidays are paid at 8 hours if on an 8-hour shift, or 10 hours if on a 10-hour 
shift. 

 
In addition to the above, regular employees receive four (4) floating holidays per year, 
with pay.   The holidays are credited on July 1 of each year and must be utilized by June 
30 of the next year. The floating holidays may not be carried over to the following year or 
credited to another type of leave. New employees will be prorated based on hire date.  
Floating holidays have no cash value upon termination of employment.   
 
Section 2. Employees who are scheduled for a regular Monday through Friday 
workweek shall observe the legal holiday as follows: 

 
A. Whenever a legal holiday falls upon a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall 

be observed as the paid holiday. 
 

B. Whenever a legal holiday falls upon a Sunday, the following Monday shall 
be observed as the paid holiday. 

 
C. Whenever a legal holiday falls upon a normal day off for employees working 

a four (4) consecutive ten (10) workday schedule, the preceding or following 
workday (upon approval by supervisor) shall be observed as the paid 
holiday.   
 

Section 3. An employee who works on a recognized holiday shall receive his/her 
normal straight time holiday pay plus time and one-half (1 1/2) pay for all hours worked. 
The qualifying period for such purposes is from 8:00 a.m. on the holiday until 8:00 a.m. 
the following day. 
 
Section 4. Holidays which occur during vacation or sick leave shall not be charged 
against such leave. 
 
 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 11 

ARTICLE 13 – VACATIONS 
 
Section 1. Regular full-time employees shall earn vacation according to the following 
schedule: 

Completed Year of Service  Per month 
 
0 months to 48 months  6.67 hours 

  49 months to 108 months  10.00 hours 
  109 months to 168 months  13.34 hours 
  169 months to 228 months  15.00 hours 
  229 months to 288 months  16.67 hours 
  289 months or more   20.00 hours 
 
Regular part-time employees shall earn vacation pro-rated based on budgeted FTE. New 
employees shall not be eligible for vacation time off or compensation upon separation 
until they have completed six (6) months of employment.   
 
Section 2. Vacation leave shall accrue on a monthly basis. 
 
Section 3. Probationary employees shall not be eligible for vacation leave, although 
vacation leave shall accrue from the beginning of employment. It cannot be used in 
advance of accrual. 
 
Section 4. Vacation leave can accrue from year to year with a maximum accrued time 
of two hundred and forty (240) hours. However, at least forty (40) consecutive hours of 
vacation must be taken annually. 
 
Section 5. Employees shall not accrue more than two hundred and forty (240) hours 
of vacation time during the year. If an employee has reached the vacation accrual cap of 
two hundred and forty (240) hours, an additional accrual above the cap shall be forfeited 
and unavailable to the employee. 
 
During any twelve (12) month continuous period an employee that has reached the 
vacation accrual cap may use a one-time thirty (30) day grace period and continue to 
accrue above the established cap. By the end of thirty (30) days the employee must use 
all accrued vacation hours above the cap. 

 
The City Administrator may waive the cap during emergencies or unusual situations. 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 12 

Section 6. Employees shall sign up for their priority vacations requests during 
November of the preceding year for vacation time off in the next calendar year. Duplicate 
requests shall be resolved by seniority. Seniority may be used only during the November 
bidding period.  Other requests shall be on a first-come, first-served basis. Vacations shall 
be scheduled with approval of the department head, consistent with operational needs of 
the department. 
 
Section 7. Vacation leave shall not be used in blocks of more than ten (10) working 
days without advance approval of the department head. 
 
Section 8. Earned vacation time may be used for sick leave, if necessary. 
 
Section 9. Upon separation from the City employment, unused but accrued vacation 
may, at the employee's option, be paid in a lump sum to the employee or his estate in the 
event of his death. 
 
Section 10. Forfeiture of accrued leave, as a disciplinary action shall not be authorized. 
No employee shall lose accrued annual leave when promoted, demoted or transferred. 
 
 
ARTICLE 14 – SICK LEAVE   
 
Section 1. Sick leave is an income replacement insurance-type benefit. It safeguards 
a wage income and guarantees City-paid fringe benefit premiums during the time an 
employee is off work due to a non-occupational injury or disease. Abuse of sick leave is 
cause for disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Section 2. All regular full-time employees shall earn sick leave with full pay at the rate 
of eight (8) hours leave for each calendar month of service. Regular part-time employees 
shall earn sick leave on a pro-rated basis. Sick leave shall accrue from the date of 
employment, but it shall not be granted until the successful completion of the first (1st) 
month of the probationary period. It cannot be used in advance of accrual. Sick leave may 
be accumulated up to one thousand forty (1040) hours but may not be exchanged for 
cash or other leave. 
 
Section 3. The use of sick leave is available for the employee or family member 
including; spouse, child, parent, brother, sister, stepchild, stepparent, grandchild, 
grandparent, or as provided by the Oregon Sick Leave law.  Employees should attempt 
to minimize the use of sick leave for routine physician or dentist appointments by 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 13 

scheduling appointments during non-work hours and weekends. Employees are eligible 
to use sick leave for the following reasons: 

 
A. Non-occupational personal illness or injury 
B. Quarantine of an employee by a physician for non-occupational related 

disability or illness. 
C. Illness in the immediate family as defined in this document requiring the 

employee to be absent from work to care for the family member 
D. Physician and dentist appointments for employee or immediate family. 
E. Or as permitted by Oregon Law   

 
Section 4. Employees shall be charged sick leave to the nearest ¼ hour for the time 
absent. 
 
Section 5. Should an employee be unable to report to work because of any of the 
reasons set forth in Section 3, he/she shall report the reason for his/her absence to the 
appropriate supervisor within thirty (30) minutes of the start of the shift, unless there are 
extenuating circumstances. 

 
Sick leave with pay in excess of four (4) working days may result in the City's requiring a 
written statement from a physician certifying that the employee's condition prevented 
him/her from appearing for work. When an employee has been under a physician's care, 
such as serious illness or recovery from surgery, a physician's release may be required 
before the employee can return to work. 
 
Section 6. Unused sick leave normally has no cash value at termination. Employees 
retiring from City service under PERS Tier 1 or 2 may apply up to one-half (1/2) of the 
monetary value of accumulated sick leave in determining final average salary. Use of sick 
leave credits for this purpose shall be in accordance with the provisions of ORS 238.350.   
 
Section 7. Earned sick leave cannot be used for vacation. 
 
Section 8. If, an employee becomes physically disabled off the job and does not have 
earned sick leave or paid vacation time accrued; the City will engage in the interactive 
process and may grant a leave of absence consistent with applicable law.  
 
Section 9. Coordination with Worker’s Compensation payments: An employee may 
choose to use sick leave to equal the difference between the Workers’ Compensation 
payments for time loss and the employee’s regular net income. In such instances, the 
agency prorates charges against the employee’s accrued sick leave. An employee who 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 14 

exhausts sick leave may choose to use other accrued leave to equal the difference 
between Workers’ Compensation payments for time loss and the employee’s regular net 
salary. In such instances the agency prorates charges against the accrued leave. Using 
leave while receiving time loss benefits is not required. An employee’s regular net income 
is the employee’s regular salary for regularly scheduled work and does not include 
overtime. In the event the employee exhausts his/her leave banks, the employee will be 
placed on leave without pay and will continue to retain their workers compensation time 
loss checks. 
 
Employees will need to provide the City timely copies of the W/C payments in order to 
calculate or reconcile use of accrued paid leaves.  The City will provide notice to an 
employee if overpayment is made and will recover the amount of salary overpayment 
through a payroll deduction plan or direct payment by the employee.  In case of a financial 
hardship, the City and employee will work together on a feasible payment plan.  

 
ARTICLE 15 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 
 
Section 1. Upon timely notification to the employee's supervisor, full-time regular 
employees may take up to three (3) paid days off without deduction from accumulated 
vacation or sick leave in the event of the death of an immediate family member.   Part-
time employees under this agreement will receive a prorated  benefit based on budgeted 
FTE.  For the purposes of paid bereavement leave by the City, immediate family shall 
mean: spouse, child, parent, brother, sister, step-child, step-parent, grandchild, 
grandparent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or 
sister-in-law.  Use must occur within sixty (60) days of notice of passing or extended by 
mutual agreement.   
 
If necessary, seven (7) additional days may be allowed with approval of the City 
Administrator. Each day so allowed and taken shall be deducted from the employee's 
vacation, accrued compensatory time or sick leave bank. Sick leave may only be used if 
the employee has no other paid leave available. 
 
 
ARTICLE 16 – JURY DUTY 
 
Section 1. Employees shall be allowed time off without loss of pay for serving on jury 
duty. Any compensation and mileage received by the employee from court for performing 
such service shall promptly be refunded to the City and all employees are required to 
seek such compensation and mileage from the court. In the event an employee has used 
the employee's personal, privately owned vehicle for jury service outside the county, such 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 15 

employee shall be allowed to retain the mileage compensation portion paid by the court. 
In the event that an employee is called for jury duty and excused prior to the end of the 
employee's workday, such employee shall report to work immediately and continue 
normal work activities. 
 
 
ARTICLE 17 – WAGES 
 
Section 1. Wage Increases. 

 
The City will provide an employee with a wage increase based on satisfactory 
performance of the employee as follows:  
 
Effective July 1, 2022 or upon execution of this agreement, the later of either, step 1 of 
the employee’s salary scale will be adjusted by 4% rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 
Effective July 1, 2023, step 1 of the employee’s salary scale will be adjusted by 4.5% 
rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 
Effective July 1, 2024, step 1 of the employee’s salary scale will be adjusted by 4.5% 
rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 
Steps 5% apart.   
 
The City intends to conduct yearly evaluations prior to July of each year.   
 
Section 2. Wage increases will be applied to Step 1 and graduated by 5% to Step 8 on 
Salary Schedule A attached hereto and made part of this agreement.  
 
Section 3. New employees will be placed on the salary schedule at the step level as 
determined by the City based on experience, certification and qualifications. Employees 
will move annually on the salary schedule based on satisfactory performance.     
 
Section 4. The City recognizes that at times an employee may be required to fill in on 
a temporary basis for other employees in a higher pay classification and should be 
recognized through a temporary adjustment in pay at the higher grade at the step closest 
to and above the employee's current step. If the next highest step in the temporary grade 
classification is less than five percent (5%) the temporary step will be at the next higher 
step. Under normal circumstances this would include occasions exceeding two (2) 
regularly scheduled shifts. Normally this would include times an employee is on leave for 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 16 

vacation but may include other occasions. Temporary reclassifications will be subject to 
the City Administrator's written approval.   
 
Section 5. Employees will be paid on the thirtieth (30th) day of the month. If a regular 
pay day falls on a Saturday, paychecks will be distributed on Friday. If a regular payday 
falls on a Sunday, paychecks will be distributed on Friday. If a payday day falls on a 
holiday, paychecks will be distributed on the last business day before the holiday.   
 
Section 6. Certification Pay. Employees who have and maintain any of the 
certifications listed below and that are not part of the employees' job description will 
receive an additional premium of 1% of base monthly pay for each certificate, to a 
maximum payment of 2%. The City shall ensure that any employee qualifying for 
certification will work the necessary hours required to maintain such certification.   
 
Approved Oregon Certifications:  Cross Connection, Water Distribution (Grades 1-4), 
Water Treatment (Grade 1-4), Wastewater Treatment (Grade 1-4), Wastewater 
Collections (Grade 1-4) Herbicide Spray Application. Note: For clarification, these 
incentives for certifications are only paid for those certifications not required by an 
employee’s job description.  
 
Section 7. Employees shall be eligible for the longevity pay.  
 

An employee with 10 years (120 months) of continuous service with the City 
will be eligible to receive an additional premium of 2.0% base monthly pay.  
 
An employee with 13 years (156 months) of continuous service with the City 
will be eligible to receive an additional premium of 2.5% base monthly pay.  
 
An employee with 18 years (216 months) of continuous service with the City 
will be eligible to receive an additional premium of 3.0% base monthly pay.    
   

Longevity payments are subject to yearly satisfactory performance evaluations and are 
not cumulative.  
 
 
ARTICLE 18 – HEALTH AND WELFARE       
 
Section 1.  The City will provide health care, including dental and vision, through Oregon 
Teamsters Employers Trust (OTET), Plan FW, D-6 Dental, V-4 Vision and Supplemental 
Time Loss and as provided by the OTET Subscription Agreement and under the 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 17 

representation from OTET and the Union that the plan complies with State and Federal 
law and the Affordable Care Act.   
 
For 2018 and thereafter, if any additional tax or rate increase is imposed due to the 
Cadillac Tax of the Affordable Care Act, employees will be responsible for the equivalent 
amount through payroll deductions.   
 
Section 2. Health Insurance Premium Cost Shares:  For full time employees, the City 
shall pay ninety-five percent (95%) of the monthly cost of the Health and Welfare Plan 
and the employee shall pay for the remainder through pre-tax payroll deduction.  For part-
time employees working 0.5 FTE up to but less than 1.0 FTE, the City will pay 75% of the 
monthly cost of the Health and Welfare Plan and the employee shall pay for the remainder 
through pre-tax payroll deduction.   
 
Section 3. The City shall provide each employee with Group Life Insurance in the 
amount of current annual base salary subject to the maximum provided by the carrier.  
 
Section 4:  Voluntary Employee Beneficiary Account (VEBA):  Effective July 1, 2022, or 
upon execution of this agreement, the later of either, the City will establish a VEBA for the 
employees covered under this Agreement. Contributions to individual employee VEBA 
accounts will be made in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, as authorized by 
Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(9). The City will contribute $50 per employee per 
month into employee’s HRA/VEBA.  
 
ARTICLE 19 – TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT & LODGING EXPENSE 
 
Section 1. When an employee is authorized to utilize a personal vehicle in the 
performance of official City duties, compensation shall be paid at the rate equivalent to 
the standard IRS mileage allowance. 
 
Section 2. The City agrees to reimburse employees for their meals and lodging when 
they are out of town at authorized meetings, classes or seminars. Receipts will be 
required. 
 
Section 3. All overnight travel time to and from City approved meetings, classes or 
training seminars will be considered time worked in accordance with the Fair Labor 
Standards Act and BOLI. 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 18 

 
ARTICLE 20 – TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
Section 1. The City agrees to encourage and promote training opportunities, subject 
to the needs of the City and its budgetary limitations, for all employees to increase and 
sustain the effectiveness of the workforce. 
 
The City is permitted to direct the attendance of an employee, and each employee shall 
attend any and all school and training sessions as mandated by the City. The employee 
will be compensated for actual class time spent in such training mandated by the City at 
the employee's regular straight time rate unless otherwise provided by the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA). Voluntary attendance at non-required and non-job-related training 
courses shall not be considered work time. 
 
The books and printed materials provided by the training and included in the cost of tuition 
shall become the property of the City. 
 
For employees required to possess a CDL license, the City shall pay for all costs related 
to obtaining and maintaining the employee's CDL license, including DOT physical cost. 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 21 – JOB ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Section 1. Announcements of all vacancies and new positions within the department 
shall be furnished to the employees and the Union through a written notice as far in 
advance of the date of opening of any vacancy or new position as possible. All such 
announcements of vacancies and new positions shall also be posted within the 
department. Said notice of new position shall clearly set forth the job description for the 
position. Bargaining unit employees who apply for a job position and who meet minimal 
qualifications will be provided an interview.   
 
 
ARTICLE 22 – PERSONNEL FILE 
 
Section 1. An employee may review his/her personnel file at reasonable time during 
regular business hours. However, material provided the City by a previous employer shall 
not be subject to disclosure. The employee's personnel file is maintained in the City 
Recorder's Office. 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 19 

Section 2. Whenever an entry is made by the City into an employee's personnel file, a 
duplicate copy shall be supplied to the employee. However, it is understood that any and 
all files kept for the purpose of employee documentation, either personal or professional, 
are the property of the City. The City agrees that the contents of these files, including 
personal photographs, shall be confidential and shall restrict the use of information in the 
files to the internal use of the City, subject to applicable law.  
 
Section 3. Nothing in this Article shall be interpreted in such manner as to prevent 
supervisors from maintaining separate working files. 
 
 
ARTICLE 23 – PERSONNEL POLICIES AND WORK RULES 
 
Section 1. Personnel policies and work rules may be promulgated and administered 
by the City as it may from time to time decide. If there is any conflict between the 
provisions of this Agreement and any personnel policy or work rule, the applicable 
provision of this Agreement shall govern. 
 
Changes or additions to such rules or policies shall be furnished to the Union at least 14 
days prior to implementation, consistent with PECBA statutes.  
 
 
ARTICLE 24 – SAFETY 
 
Section 1. The City and the employees agree to abide by applicable Federal, State, 
and City safety regulations and policies.  The City holds regular safety committee 
meetings.  Employees are encouraged to report safety issues to their supervisor.   All 
matters of safety brought forth not resolved by a supervisor will defer to the safety 
committee for an advisory recommendation to the City.  The City retains final discretion 
to resolve matters of safety.   
 
 
ARTICLE 25 – DRUG TESTING 
 
Section 1. Before an employee may be tested for drugs, the Employer shall have 
individualized reasonable suspicion based on objective facts and reasonable inferences 
drawn there from, that a particular employee has engaged or is engaging in the use of 
illegal drugs or has reported to work after consuming alcohol or engaged in the use of 
alcohol while on duty.  However, random testing may be required of any employee.  



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 20 

Reasonable suspicion will be documented and performed by a person with appropriate 
training.  The City is not precluded from using a law enforcement officer for this purpose.   
 
Section 2. Drug Testing under this Article shall be conducted by a laboratory mutually 
agreed upon in advance by the City and the Union, or locally available clinic.  Alcohol 
Testing will be conducted by law enforcement or other available laboratory/clinic. A breath 
test or blood test may be required as available.   
 
 
 
ARTICLE 26 – PENSION 
 
Section 1. The City shall participate in the Public Employees Retirement System and 
pay the employee's six percent (6%) contribution to PERS consistent with PERS statutes, 
rules and regulations.   
 
 
ARTICLE 27 – CLOTHING PAYMENT  
 
Section 1. The Employer shall provide employees with any required equipment or 
clothing needed to perform the job required (rain gear, gloves, reflective vests, etc.). The 
employees working in the Department of Public Works shall receive a clothing/boot 
payment of three hundred dollars ($300) annually, paid during the first pay period of each 
fiscal year of this agreement. This payment is subject to applicable withholdings.  
Employees on probation will not receive this payment until successful completion of 
probation.   
 
 
ARTICLE 28 – SAVINGS CLAUSE 
 
Section 1. It is the intention of the parties hereto to comply with all applicable laws and 
they believe that each and every part of this Agreement is lawful. All provisions of this 
Agreement shall be complied with unless any of such provisions shall be declared invalid 
or inoperative by a court of competent jurisdiction, a legislative body or administrative 
agency. 
 
Should any provision of this Agreement and/or any attachments hereto be held invalid by 
operation of law or by any court of competent jurisdiction, a legislative body or 
administrative agency, or if compliance with or enforcement of any provision be unlawful, 
the remainder of this Agreement and/or attachments hereto shall not be affected thereby 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 21 

and the parties shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations for the 
purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement of such provision and/or any 
attachments hereto.  In the event the City provides notice to the Union of an unlawful 
provision of this agreement, the City will comply with ORS 243.698 to negotiate the impact 
of the change.   
 
Section 2:  Scope of Agreement and Continued Conditions: Unless otherwise specified 
by this agreement, the Union acknowledges that during the collective bargaining period 
for this existing agreement, the Union had the full opportunity to have presented and 
bargained all matters of “employment relations,” including matters of compensation or 
benefits, as provided by PECBA.  The Union hereby waives any further obligation to 
bargain other matters of compensation or benefits not covered by this agreement and as 
raised by the Union mid-term, that are not addressed by this agreement.  However, the 
Union retains the right to bargain those matters raised by the employer under the 
provisions of ORS 243.698 or as required under the provisions of ORS 243.702. 
 
 
ARTICLE 29 – TERMINATION 
 
Section 1.  This Agreement shall become effective upon execution and shall remain in 
full force and effect through June 30, 2025. It shall remain in full force and effect from 
year to year thereafter unless either party shall serve written notice of desire to open it for 
change or to terminate it, not later than January 2, prior to its subsequent anniversary 
date. 
 
 
DATED THIS   DAY OF   , 2022. 
 
 
 
FOR: THE CITY OF RAINIER   FOR: TEAMSTERS LOCAL NO. 58 
 
 
              
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 22 

 
  



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 23 

APPENDIX A - WAGE SCALE 
 

• City of Rainier monthly salaries are based on 2080 hours per year 
• Steps are 5% apart 
• Monthly amount shown 
 

 July 1, 2022 – 4% increase to Step 1 
 STEPS 

Position 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
Librarian 

$3157 $3315 $3481 $3655 $3838 $4030 $4231 $4443 Clerk 
Account/Planning Clerk 
         
Court Clerk 

$3381 $3550 $3728 $3914 $4110 $4315 $4531 $4757 Utility Worker 1 
Finance/City Clerk 
         
Journey Utility Worker 

$3866 $4059 $4262 $4475 $4699 $4934 $5180 $5439 
Utility Worker II 
         
Lead Person 

$4137 $4344 $4561 $4789 $5029 $5280 $5544 $5821 
Water/Wastewater Op 
         

Public Works Foreman $4702 $4937 $5184 $5443 $5715 $6001 $6301 $6616 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Rainier/Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local 58 
Final:  Upon execution  to 6/30/2025 
Page 24 

 July 1, 2023 – 4.5% increase to Step 1 
 STEPS 

Position 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
Librarian 

$3300 $3465 $3638 $3820 $4011 $4211 $4422 $4643 Clerk 
Account/Planning Clerk 
         
Court Clerk 

$3533 $3710 $3895 $4090 $4295 $4509 $4735 $4972 Utility Worker 1 
Finance/City Clerk 
         
Journey Utility Worker 

$4040 $4242 $4454 $4676 $4910 $5156 $5413 $5684 
Utility Worker II 
         
Lead Person 

$4323 $4539 $4766 $5005 $5255 $5518 $5794 $6083 
Water/Wastewater Op 
         

Public Works Foreman $4913 $5159 $5417 $5688 $5972 $6271 $6584 $6914 

 
 July 1, 2024 – 4.5% increase to Step 1 
 STEPS 

Position 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
Librarian 

$3448 $3620 $3801 $3991 $4191 $4401 $4621 $4852 Clerk 
Account/Planning Clerk 
         
Court Clerk 

$3692 $3877 $4071 $4274 $4488 $4712 $4948 $5195 Utility Worker 1 
Finance/City Clerk 
         
Journey Utility Worker 

$4221 $4432 $4654 $4887 $5131 $5388 $5657 $5940 
Utility Worker II 
         
Lead Person 

$4518 $4744 $4981 $5230 $5491 $5766 $6054 $6357 
Water/Wastewater Op 
         

Public Works Foreman $5135 $5391 $5661 $5944 $6241 $6553 $6881 $7225 

 


	10 Bank Reconciliation- April 2022
	10 Budget Comparison- April 2022
	10 Budget Variance- April 2022
	10 Check Register- April 2022
	5 CC 06062022 minutes
	6a City Library IGA Addendum
	7a KLTV 1
	7a kltv 2
	7b 2021-424 Rainier Planning Services - DRAFT
	7c Resolution 22-06-03
	7d Security Cameras
	7e Dock Repair Bid
	9f Rainier PW CBA Final exp 2025

